
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

 
SEATTLE’S BEST COFFEE, LLC 
 

Plaintiff and Counterclaim Defendant, 
 

v. 
 
AMIT PATEL and DEVESH, INC., 
 

Defendants and 
Counterclaim/Third-Party Plaintiffs, 

 
v. 
 
STARBUCKS CORPORATION,  
 

Third-Party Defendants. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) 

 
Case No. 1:12-cv-6190 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Judge John J. Tharp, Jr. 

Magistrate Judge Jeffrey Cole 

 
DEFENDANTS’ SECOND AMENDED ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES, 

COUNTERCLAIMS AND THIRD-PARTY COMPLAINT 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
 Defendants, Amit Patel and Devesh, Inc. (“collectively Defendants”), for 

their amended answer and counterclaim to the Complaint filed by Seattle’s Best 

Coffee, LLC (“SBC”) in the above-titled matter, state that any matter not 

expressly admitted herein is denied and, further, allege that: 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This action arises out of the termination of a written licensing agreement 

between Seattle’s Best and Patel. After Patel breached the agreement by failing 
to comply with operational standards, failing to remit required payments for 
products, royalties, and other fees, and failing to cure those defaults after having 
received written notice thereof and demand for such cure, Seattle’s Best 
terminated the licensing agreement for cause. Despite the termination of the 
licensing agreement, defendants continue to (1) unlawfully use Seattle’s Best’s 
name and marks and (2) violate post-termination provisions of the licensing 
agreement. Seattle’s Best seeks a preliminary and permanent injunction to 
enjoin defendants’ infringement of Seattle’s Best’s federally-registered names 
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and marks and unfair competition in violation of federal trademark laws, and 
from continuing to violate those post-termination obligations under the licensing 
agreement. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the statement contained in the Introduction to the 

Complaint and further state that the real motive for the filing of this 
action is Patel’s having complained to SBC about the unlawful 
manner in which the franchise was sold and SBC’s breach of its 
obligation to sell product in a manner consistent with the underlying 
License Agreement. 

 
PARTIES 

 
1. Plaintiff Seattle’s Best is a Washington limited liability company. Its 

sole member is a Georgia corporation with its principal place of business in the 
State of Washington. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 1 of the 

Complaint. 
 
2. Defendant Amit Patel is a citizen and resident of the State of 

Illinois. 
 

ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 2 of the 
Complaint. 

 
3. Defendant Devesh, Inc. (“Devesh”) is an Illinois corporation with its 

principal place of business in the State of Illinois. 
 

ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 3 of the 
Complaint. 

 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 
4. The Court has original subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331, 1338 and 1367, in that this is a civil action involving claims arising 
under the laws of the United States, including an Act of Congress relating to 
trademarks, and wherein all other claims are so related to claims within the 
Court’s original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 4 of the 

Complaint, except that Defendants deny that this court has 
jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1338. 

 
5. The Court also has original subject matter jurisdiction of this 

action under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(1), in that this is a civil action where the matter 
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in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000, exclusive of interests and 
costs, and is between citizens of different States. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 5 of the 

Complaint. 
 

6. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) 
because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims 
asserted herein occurred in this judicial district. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 6 of the 

Complaint. 
 
7. Venue is also proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(1) because all defendants are residents of Illinois, and at least one 
defendant resides in this judicial district. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 7 of the 

Complaint. 
 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

8. Seattle’s Best is engaged in the highly-competitive retail coffee 
business. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 8 of the 

Complaint. 
 

9. Seattle’s Best brand coffee and related specialty products are 
distributed throughout the United States through authorized Seattle’s Best 
franchisees who operate Seattle’s Best Cafés and kiosks pursuant to written 
agreements with Seattle’s Best. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 9 of the 

Complaint. 
 

10. Seattle’s Best also sells Seattle’s Best brand coffee and related 
specialty products at wholesale and by mail order. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 10 of the 

Complaint. 
 

11. Seattle’s Best franchised brand is Seattle’s Best Coffee®. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 11 of the 

Complaint. 
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The Seattle’s Best Marks 
 

12. To identify the source, origin, and sponsorship of its products and 
services, and to distinguish those products and services from those established, 
made, offered, and sold by others, authorized Seattle’s Best franchisees have 
extensively used certain trademarks, service marks, trade names, logos, 
emblems, and indicia of origin, including but not limited to the Seattle’s Best 
mark (the “Seattle’s Best Marks”), in connection with the operation of authorized 
Seattle’s Best Cafés. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 12 of the 

Complaint. 
 
13. Seattle’s Best owns the Seattle’s Best Marks. Seattle’s Best has 

the full right and authority to use and sublicense the use of the Seattle’s Best 
Marks to others, including authorized Seattle’s Best Licensees. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 13 of the 

Complaint. 
 

14. Pursuant to franchise agreements entered into by Seattle’s Best 
and its authorized franchisees, Seattle’s Best grants franchises to qualified 
persons to own and operate Seattle’s Best Cafés or kiosks, together with a 
limited license to use the Seattle’s Best Marks in connection therewith, but only 
in such manner and at such locations as are expressly authorized by Seattle’s 
Best in the franchise agreements. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants are without sufficient information to admit or deny the 

allegations contained in paragraph 14 of the Complaint. 
 

15. The Seattle’s Best Marks are registered on the Principal Register 
of the United States Patent and Trademark Office. The registrations of the 
Seattle’s Best Marks continue in full force and effect. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit 

or deny the allegations contained in paragraph 15 of the Complaint. 
 

16. Seattle’s Best has given notice to the public of the registration of 
the Seattle’s Best Marks as provided in 15 U.S.C. § 1111 and complies with all 
legal requirements to ensure that it and its authorized Licensees remain the 
exclusive users of the Seattle’s Best Marks. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit 

or deny the allegations contained in paragraph 16 of the Complaint. 
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17. Seattle’s Best and its authorized Licensees have continuously 
used the Seattle’s Best Marks in interstate commerce in connection with the 
promotion, sale, and franchising of Seattle’s Best Cafés and kiosks and the 
promotion and sale of the coffee and related specialty products they offer 
throughout the United States, since the date of their registration. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 17 of the 

Complaint. 
 

18. Seattle’s Best and its authorized Licensees have extensively 
advertised and promoted the Seattle’s Best Marks and the products and 
services they offer in association with those marks throughout the United States 
and through various media. As a result of such efforts and the considerable 
money spent in connection therewith, the products offered by Seattle’s Best and 
its authorized franchisees under the Seattle’s Best Marks have met with 
widespread public approval and have established demand and goodwill among 
consumers throughout the United States. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit 

or deny the allegations contained in paragraph 18 of the Complaint. 
 

Patel’s License Agreement 
 

19. On September 2, 2009, Seattle’s Best, as licensor, entered into a 
written License Agreement with defendant Amit Patel, as licensee, pursuant to 
which Seattle’s Best granted Patel a limited license to construct, develop, and 
operate five Seattle’s Best Cafés (the “Licensing Agreement”). 
 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegations contained in paragraph 19 of the 

Complaint. 
 

20. Patel operated his licensed Seattle’s Best Café at 1055 E. Monroe 
Street, Chicago, IL 60603 (the “Seattle’s Best Café”). Patel enjoyed the full and 
complete benefit of the license granted to him under the Licensing Agreement. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegation in paragraph 20 of the Complaint 

that Patel operated his licensed Seattle’s Best Café at 1055 E. 
Monroe Street, in Chicago, Il.  Defendants deny the remaining 
allegations in paragraph 20 of the Complaint. 

 
21. Seattle’s Best at all times fully performed all of its obligations under 

the Licensing Agreement. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 21 of the 

Complaint. 
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Defendants’ Post-Termination Obligations 
 

22.  Patel acknowledged and agreed that, as a Seattle’s Best licensee, 
he would receive, and he in fact received, Seattle’s Best’s trade secrets and 
confidential information. Patel agreed not to disclose any trade secrets or 
confidential information other than as permitted under the Licensing Agreement. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 22 of the 

Complaint. 
 
23. During the course and within the scope of his license relationship 

with Seattle’s Best, Patel was entrusted with trade secrets and confidential 
information of Seattle’s Best that were not available or accessible to, or known 
or ascertainable by, competitors of Seattle’s Best. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 23 of the 

Complaint. 
 

24. The trade secrets and confidential information entrusted to Patel in 
his capacity as a Seattle’s Best licensee afforded him and Devesh (the entity 
through which he purported, without Seattle’s Best’s consent, to operate the 
Seattle’s Best Café) a competitive advantage over their competitors. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 24 of the 

Complaint. 
 

25. The trade secrets and confidential information are critical to 
Seattle’s Best and its authorized franchisees’ ability to maintain their competitive 
advantage in the coffee business. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 25 of the 

Complaint. 
 

26. Seattle’s Best would be at a substantial competitive disadvantage 
if the trade secrets and confidential information known by defendants were to be 
used by a competitor or by defendants in the operation of a competitive 
business. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 26 of the 

Complaint. 
 

27. Patel further agreed that in the event that he violated his non-
disclosure obligations, injunctive relief should issue to enjoin any further 
violations, and he agreed to pay all court costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in 
connection with such injunction proceedings. 
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ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 27 and 
affirmatively state that the documents referenced therein speak for 
themselves. 

 
28. Patel agreed that upon termination of the Licensing Agreement he 

would pay all sums due and owing to Seattle’s Best, cease to operate the 
Seattle’s Best Café, and shall not thereafter, directly or indirectly, hold any such 
location out as a Seattle’s Best Café, cease using Seattle’s Best Marks, return 
all manuals and training materials, cancel all telephone and other directory 
listings, pay liquidated damages as provided for in the Licensing Agreement, and 
abide by a prohibition against Patel having any interest, directly or indirectly, in 
the ownership or operation of any business engaged in the sale of services or 
products the same as, similar to, or competitive with those offered by Seattle’s 
Best at the location of the Seattle’s Best Café or any other location within one-
half mile radius of the Seattle’s Best Café for one year following the date of 
termination. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants state that the Licensing Agreement referred to in 

paragraph 28 of the Complaint speaks for itself and, otherwise, 
deny the allegations appearing in that Paragraph. 

 
29. The Licensing Agreement provides that if Seattle’s Best is the 

prevailing party in any legal proceeding related to the Licensing Agreement, then 
Seattle’s Best shall recover its costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, 
incurred in connection with such proceeding. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants state that the Licensing Agreement referred to in 

paragraph 29 of the Complaint speaks for itself and, otherwise, 
deny the allegations appearing in that Paragraph. 

 
Termination of the Licensing Agreement 

 
30.  On July 11, 2011, Seattle’s Best notified Patel that he was in 

default of the Licensing Agreement for failing to remit payment for products, 
royalties, and other fees in accordance with the terms of the Licensing 
Agreement. 

 
ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 30 of the 

Complaint, Defendants admit that notice was issued.  Any other 
allegation appearing in paragraph 30 of the Complaint is denied. 

 
31. On September 23, 2011, Seattle’s Best notified Patel that he was 

in default of the Licensing Agreement for failing to follow system standards, as 
required under the Licensing Agreement, by, among other things, selling expired 
product and failing to operate the Seattle’s Best Café under the direct control of 
a certified, dedicated management associate. 
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ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 31 of the 

Complaint, Defendants admit that notice was issued.  Any other 
allegation appearing in paragraph 31 of the Complaint is denied. 

 
 

32. On November 14, 2011, Seattle’s Best notified Patel that he was in 
default of the Licensing Agreement for failing to follow system standards by, 
among other things, continuing to sell expired product and selling unapproved 
products. 

 
ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 32 of the 

Complaint, Defendants admit that notice was issued.  Any other 
allegation appearing in paragraph 32 of the Complaint is denied. 

 
33. On May 3, 2012, Seattle’s Best notified Patel that he was in default 

of the Licensing Agreement for failing to remit payment for products, royalties, 
and other fees in accordance with the terms of the Licensing Agreement. 

 
ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 33 of the 

Complaint, Defendants admit that notice was issued.  Any other 
allegation appearing in paragraph 33 of the Complaint is denied. 

 
34. Notwithstanding the notices of default and demand for cure, Patel 

refused to cure his material breaches of the Licensing Agreement. 
 

ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 34 of the 
Complaint. 

 
35. Seattle’s Best subsequently terminated the Licensing Agreement 

for cause on August 2, 2012, based on Patel’s breaches and failure to cure. 
 

ANSWER: Defendants admit the allegation contained in paragraph 35 of the 
Complaint that a termination notice issued, but deny all other 
allegations contained in paragraph 35. 

 
Patel’s Failure to Comply 

With His Post-Termination Obligations 
 

36. After termination of the Licensing Agreement, Patel failed to 
comply and continues to fail to comply with his post-termination obligations. 

 
ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 36 of the 

Complaint Defendants state that the notice speaks for itself. 
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37. In its August 2, 2012 notice of termination, Seattle’s Best reminded 
Patel of his post-termination obligations, including his obligations to pay 
$17,982.74 in unpaid royalties and $39,977.87 for various goods, cease 
operating and de-identify the Seattle’s Best Café, cease using all articles which 
display the Seattle’s Best Marks (including canceling all telephone and other 
directory listings), cease using any menus, recipes, formulas, equipment, 
methods, procedures, and the techniques associated with the Seattle’s Best 
system, and pay, within thirty days, liquidated damages of $108,742. 

 
ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 37 of the 

Complaint Defendants state that the notice speaks for itself and 
further state that the true motive for the notice was Patel’s having 
declined to release SBC. 

 
38. Moreover, the August 2, 2012 termination notice reminded Patel 

that under the terms of the Licensing Agreement, he is prohibited from having 
any interest, directly or indirectly, in the ownership or operation of any business 
engaged in the sale of services or products the same as, similar to, or 
competitive with those offered by Seattle’s Best at the Seattle’s Best Café’s 
location or any other location within one-half mile radius of the Seattle’s Best 
Café for one year following the date termination. 
 
ANSWER: In response to the allegations contained in paragraph 38 of the 

Complaint Defendants state that the notice speaks for itself and 
further state it was subsequently rescinded by agreement. 

 
39. Patel, however, continues to operate the Seattle’s Best Café and 

refuses to perform or to comply with his post-termination obligations under the 
Licensing Agreement.  

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 39 of the 

Complaint.  Defendants state it operates the Café pursuant to an 
agreement with SBC. 

 
COUNT I - TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

 
40. Seattle’s Best repeats and realleges ¶¶ 1 through 39 of its 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 
 
ANSWER: No answering statement is required in response to the content of 

paragraph 40.  To the extent that an answering statement is 
required, Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 
40 of the Complaint. 

 
41.  Defendants’ acts, practices, and conduct constitute an infringing 

use in interstate commerce of the Seattle’s Best Marks, and are likely to cause 
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consumer confusion or mistake and deceive the public in violation of Section 
32(1) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1). 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 41 of the 

Complaint. 
 

42. Defendants’ acts were, and continue to be, knowing and willful. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 42 of the 

Complaint. 
 

43. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ infringement, 
Seattle’s Best has been and is likely to be substantially injured in its business, 
including its business reputation and goodwill associated with the Seattle’s Best 
Marks, resulting in lost revenues and profits, and diminished good will. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 43 of the 

Complaint. 
 

44. Seattle’s Best has no adequate remedy at law because the 
Seattle’s Best Marks are unique and represent to the public Seattle’s Best’s 
identity, reputation, and goodwill, such that damages alone cannot fully 
compensate Seattle’s Best for defendants’ misconduct. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 44 of the 

Complaint. 
 

45. Unless enjoined by the Court, defendants will continue to use and 
to infringe the Seattle’s Best Marks to Seattle’s Best’s irreparable injury. This 
threat of future injury to Seattle’s Best’s business, identity, goodwill, and 
reputation requires injunctive relief to prevent defendants’ continued use of the 
Seattle’s Best Marks, and to ameliorate and mitigate Seattle’s Best’s injuries. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 45 of the 

Complaint. 
 

COUNT II - UNFAIR COMPETITION 
 

46. Seattle’s Best repeats and realleges ¶¶ 1 through 39 of its 
Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 
 
ANSWER: No answering statement is required in response to the content of 

Paragraph 46.  To the extent that an answering statement is 
required, Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 
46 of the Complaint. 
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47. Defendants’ acts, practices, and conduct constitute unfair 
competition, and false or misleading descriptions or representations of fact, in 
that they are likely to cause confusion or mistake, to deceive others as to the 
affiliation, connection, or association of the parties, and/or to misrepresent the 
nature, characteristic, qualities, or geographic origin of the parties’ goods, 
services and commercial activities, all in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham 
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 47 of the 

Complaint. 
 

48. Defendants’ acts were, and continue to be, knowing and willful. 
 

ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 48 of the 
Complaint. 

 
49. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ unfair competition, 

Seattle’s Best has been and is likely to be substantially injured in its business, 
including its goodwill and reputation, resulting in lost revenues and profits, and 
diminished goodwill. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 49 of the 

Complaint. 
 
50. Seattle’s Best has no adequate remedy at law because the 

Seattle’s Best Marks are unique and represent to the public Seattle’s Best’s 
identity, reputation, and goodwill, such that damages alone cannot fully 
compensate Seattle’s Best for defendants’ misconduct. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 50 of the 

Complaint. 
 

51. Unless enjoined by the Court, defendants will continue to compete 
unfairly with Seattle’s Best to Seattle’s Best’s irreparable injury. This threat of 
future injury to Seattle’s Best’s business, identity, goodwill, and reputation 
requires injunctive relief to prevent defendants’ continued unfair competition, and 
to ameliorate and mitigate Seattle’s Best’s injuries. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 51 of the 

Complaint. 
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COUNT III - BREACH OF CONTRACT: LICENSING AGREEMENT 
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE 

 
52. Seattle’s Best repeats and realleges ¶¶ 1 through 39 of its 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 
 
ANSWER: No answering statement is required in response to the content of 

Paragraph 52.  To the extent that an answering statement is 
required, Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 
52 of the Complaint. 

 
53. Patel’s failure and refusal to comply with his post-termination 

obligations under the Licensing Agreement constitute material breaches of the 
Licensing Agreement and include, among others, the following: 
 

A. His continued operation of the Seattle’s Best Café. 
 
B. His failure to de-identify the Seattle’s Best Café from its former 

appearance as a Seattle’s Best Café. 
 
C. His failure to cease using all signs, furniture, case goods, fixtures, 

equipment, advertising materials (including canceling all telephone 
and other directory listings), stationery, forms, packaging, containers, 
and any other articles which display the Seattle’s Best proprietary 
trade name and service marks. 

 
D. His failure to cease using any menus, recipes, formulas, equipment, 

methods, procedures, and the techniques associated with the 
Seattle’s Best system. 

 
E. His failure to return to Seattle’s Best all manuals relating to the 

operation of the Seattle’s Best Café, as well as records, files, 
instructions, correspondence, and any and all material relating to the 
operation of the Seattle’s Best Café in his possession and all copies 
thereof. 

 
F. His failure to comply with the prohibition against Patel having any 

interest, directly or indirectly, in the ownership or operation of any 
business engaged in the sale of services or products the same as, 
similar to, or competitive with those offered by Seattle’s Best at the 
location of the Seattle’s Best Café or any other location within one-half 
mile radius of the Seattle’s Best Café for one year following the date 
of termination. 

 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 53 of the 

Complaint. 
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54. As a result of Patel’s ongoing breaches, Seattle’s Best has suffered 

and will continue to suffer actual, substantial, and irreparable damage, including 
but not limited to loss of customer goodwill and loyalty, franchise system 
instability, lost profits, diminution in the value of its trade secrets and confidential 
information, and loss of competitive advantage, among other things. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 54 of the 

Complaint. 
 

55. Seattle’s Best has been and will be irreparably harmed by Patel’s 
actions, and monetary damages are an insufficient remedy in that they cannot 
fully and adequately compensate Seattle’s Best for the continuing damage to the 
value of Seattle’s Best’s goodwill, reputation, and customer loyalty, all of which 
are caused by Patel’s ongoing breaches. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 55 of the 

Complaint. 
 

56. Patel will continue to breach the Licensing Agreement unless his 
wrongful conduct is enjoined. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 56 of the 

Complaint. 
 

COUNT IV – BREACH OF CONTRACT: LICENSING AGREEMENT 
DAMAGES 

 
57. Seattle’s Best repeats and realleges ¶¶ 1 through 39 and 53 

through 56 of its Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 
 
ANSWER: No answering statement is required in response to the content of 

Paragraph 57.  To the extent that an answering statement is 
required, Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 
57 of the Complaint. 

 
58. Patel’s failure to remit payment for products, royalties, and other 

fees in accordance with the terms of the Licensing Agreement constitutes 
material breaches of the Licensing Agreement. 
 
ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 58 of the 

Complaint. 
 

59. As a direct and proximate result of Patel’s breaches, Seattle’s Best 
has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial. 
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ANSWER: Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 59 of the 
Complaint. 

 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 
1. Plaintiff failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.   

2. Any damages suffered by Plaintiff are due, in whole or in part, to 

Plaintiff’s own conduct. 

3. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred by the equitable doctrine 

of unclean hands. 

4. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred due to its statutory 

violations. 

5. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred by the doctrine of prior 

material breach.  

6. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred due to waiver. 

7. Plaintiff must be equitably estopped from asserting the claims set 

forth in the Complaint.  

8. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred due to Plaintiff’s failure to 

mitigate. 

9. Plaintiff’s claim for damages fails, because the damages are too 

remote, too uncertain and too speculative to be recoverable.   

10. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred due to commercial 

impossibility and/or commercial impracticability.   

11. One or more of Plaintiff’s claims is barred because the underlying 

agreements are unenforceable, void, voidable, and/or are rescinded.   
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12. Defendants reserve the right to assert additional affirmative 

defenses as this matter proceeds.  

13. Defendants deny each and every material allegation which would 

purport to support a claim of liability against it and denies that Plaintiff is entitled 

to any relief whatsoever.   

COUNTERCLAIMS AND JURY DEMAND 

Amit Patel and Devesh, Inc. (collectively hereinafter referred to as 

“Devesh”), for their Amended Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint against 

Seattle’s Best Coffee, LLC (“SBC”) and Starbucks Corporation (“Starbucks”), 

state and allege as follows: 

IDENTIFICATION OF PARTIES 

1. Amit Patel is a citizen and resident of the State of Illinois.  

2. Devesh, Inc. is an Illinois corporation with its principal place of 

business in the State of Illinois.  

3. Seattle’s Best Coffee, LLC is a Washington limited liability 

company.  Its sole member is a Georgia corporation with its principal place of 

business in the State of Washington.   

4. Starbucks Corporation is a Washington corporation with its principal 

place of business in the State of Washington.  Starbucks Corporation is a 

guarantor of Seattle’s Best Coffee, LLC. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 

because this Court has original jurisdiction over the claim arising under the 

federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”). 

6. Jurisdiction is also proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1332(a) because the dispute is between citizens of different states and the 

amount in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs.   

7. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a 

substantial part of the events and omissions giving rise to the claims in this action 

occurred in this District.   

LAWS REGULATING THE SALE OF FRANCHISES 

The Inception of Franchise Regulation 

8. In the 1950s and 1960s, modern franchising took off as a method of 

doing business, but was unregulated and subject to widespread abuse.  State 

and federal regulators began to study the situation in the late 1960s and 

concluded that the sale of franchises was similar to the unregulated sale of 

securities in the 1920s.  Accordingly, in 1979, the Federal Trade Commission 

(“FTC”) adopted a trade regulation rule governing the sale of franchises that is 

roughly modeled on the SEC Act.  16 CFR Part 436 (the “FTC Franchise Rule,” 

which was amended in 2007).  The FTC Franchise Rule requires a franchisor to 

provide a prospective franchisee with certain disclosures, contained in a written 

offering circular, or prospectus, prior to the purchase of the franchise. In the 
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franchise industry, the prospectus is referred to as a Franchise Disclosure 

Document or “FDD.”    

9. Certain states, including Illinois, have parallel legislation, and 

provide franchisees with the right to rescind the franchise agreement and the 

right to civil remedies if a franchisor, or its principals, fail to make the required 

disclosures, or make misleading statements or omissions in connection with a 

franchise sale.   

The Franchisor’s Disclosure Obligations 

10. In the State of Illinois, the franchisor’s disclosure obligations to 

prospective franchisees may be satisfied by providing the prospective franchisee 

with an FDD that is compliant with the North American Securities Administrators 

Association, Inc.’s 2008 Franchise Registration and Disclosure Guidelines 

(“NASAA’s Disclosure Guidelines”) and the Rules adopted by the Illinois 

Administrator.  815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 705.16.     

11. The NASAA’s Disclosure Guidelines require a franchisor to make 

disclosures with respect to 23 different “Items” of information, including the 

nature of the franchise, the principals who own and run it; the costs of obtaining 

or operating the franchise; the existence of litigation in which the franchisor has 

been involved; the material terms of the contract; the existence of other 

franchisees and their locations; and, if the franchisor chooses to provide 

information on the financial performance of its outlets or projections of the 

franchisee’s performance, a fair presentation of those figures and the factual 

bases therefore. 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

History and Relationship between Seattle’s Best Coffee and Starbucks 

12. By way of relevant background, Starbucks has been in business 

since 1970, roasting premium coffees, in addition to owning, operating, 

distributing, and licensing its products and system worldwide. 

13. As of 2008, Starbucks had over 16,000 locations worldwide. 

14. In July 2003, Starbucks acquired Seattle's Coffee Company, a 

Georgia corporation from AFC Enterprises, Inc.  

15. Seattle’s Coffee Company owns SBC, a Washington limited liability 

company. 

16. Prior to Starbucks’ acquisition of Seattle’s Coffee Company from 

AFC, AFC franchised SBC and had numerous franchised and corporate-owned 

locations.  

17. After the acquisition of SBC, Starbucks did not engage in soliciting 

franchises for SBC.  Instead, Starbucks entered into a licensing agreement with 

Borders Group Inc. or its affiliates (“Borders”). The licensing agreement called for 

Borders to convert its existing Borders Cafés into SBC stores, and to develop 

SBC stores in any new location that Borders would develop in the future. As a 

result, SBC grew in size, and, at the end of fiscal year 2008, SBC had a total of 

564 locations, compared to 161 total locations at the beginning of 2006.  Out of 

the 564 locations in 2008, eleven were owned and operated by SBC, and 483 

units were Borders locations. 
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18. In January 2008, Starbucks decided to close certain of its 

Starbucks locations after it conducted an in-depth analysis of its portfolio.  This 

analysis identified unprofitable locations.  At that time, Starbucks announced that 

they would be closing 100 Starbucks locations. However, in July 2008, Starbucks 

decided to close approximately 600 locations.  

19. In deciding which locations to close, Starbucks not only evaluated 

locations for current profitability but also whether those locations would become 

profitable in the foreseeable future.   

20. For example, at the time Starbucks was evaluating unprofitable 

locations, Starbucks operated a store in Northlake, Illinois, which was part of the 

600 locations eventually closed.  The Northlake location’s annual revenue was 

$570,000 prior to its closing.  

21. Starbucks was not able to negotiate a termination of the lease at 

the Northlake location and, therefore, was obligated to pay rent until the lease 

expired. Starbucks determined that annual revenue greater than $500,000 was 

not enough to be profitable, and that the losses sustained operating the location 

exceeded the losses that would be incurred by simply paying the rent on the 

location. Starbucks anticipated a pre-tax charge of $200,000,000, as a result of 

closing 600 stores. 

22. A few months after these closings, Starbucks' Chairman, Howard 

Shultz, announced the intention to expand the franchising of SBC locations.  Mr. 

Shultz also stated that the real estate from the Starbucks closings may provide 
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an attractive conversion opportunity to potential SBC franchisees, in addition to 

the costs savings that Starbucks would enjoy. 

23. A Starbucks Café is virtually identical to an SBC Café in terms of 

store layout and the equipment used.   

24. Thus, although SBC had not solicited new franchise sales since 

Starbucks’ acquisition of SBC in 2003, in or around February 2008, SBC hired 

Marie Gill as Director of Franchise/Business Development to once again begin 

selling franchises even though, upon information and belief, SBC’s system wide 

sales for the 2008 fiscal year were less than $200,000 per unit and the minimum 

expenses to operate a SBC Café were approximately $210,000 annually.   

25. After the decision was made to franchise the SBC brand, upon 

information and belief, the following material changes were made to the SBC 

FDD: 

a. The initial fees payable to SBC increased from the range of 

$36,000-$43,000 to $60,500-$70,000; 

b. The projected development cost of a Café increased from $306,000 

to $490,000; 

c. The projected development costs of a kiosk increased from 

$317,000 to $530,500; 

d. The largest range of estimated footprint of the Café increased from 

1,400 square feet to 2,200 square feet; 

e. The liquidated damages provision did not exist in the License 

Agreements before 2008, but was subsequently added, which 
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entitled SBC to collect 3 years’ worth of royalties, and 1 year worth 

of products purchased upon early termination; 

f. The License Agreement imposed a new design fee in 2008 of 

$7,500, which was not found in previous FDDs; 

g. The FDD removed language that identified Borders locations as 

“captive venues” that were different from traditional franchised units 

and included the total number of Borders locations in its total count 

of outlets. 

26. Upon information and belief, these changes were made for the 

following reasons: 

a. To expose Licensees to greater development costs of the Café; 

b. To expose the licensee’s to lease larger spaces for development of 

the Café, which in turn would increase development costs, and 

result in greater inventory purchase from suppliers—i.e. SBC and 

Starbucks; and 

c. To expose Licensees to incur greater liability through a liquidated 

damages clause, which would act as a reason for the Licensees to 

continue its operations even if not profitable, ensuring Licensees 

would continue to purchase products from SBC and Starbucks in 

addition to receiving royalty payments. 

27. In the event that the License Agreement terminated early, SBC 

would gain not only the initial fees, but also the sale of the products to the 

Case: 1:12-cv-06190 Document #: 38 Filed: 12/19/12 Page 21 of 50 PageID #:1539



licensee and royalties until termination, and, in addition, collection of liquidated 

damages.    

Devesh Invests in the SBC Franchise Opportunity 

28. In response to SBC’s solicitation of franchises, Devesh inquired 

about the franchise opportunity, and was, in turn, provided with SBC’s FDD on or 

around December 4, 2008.  A true and correct copy of the 2008 FDD given to 

Devesh prior to the sale is attached hereto as Exhibit A.     

29. After many exchanges of emails, and telephone conversations 

between Devesh and Marie Gill, attending Discovery Day in Seattle, and relying 

upon the disclosures made in the 2008 FDD and accompanying Master 

Licensing Agreement, Devesh executed a Master Licensing Agreement with SBC 

on August 27, 2009 (“License Agreement”).  A true and correct copy of Devesh’s 

License Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit B.    

30. Devesh subsequently entered into a ten-year lease with 55 East 

Monroe Investors IV, LLC, leasing 1,931 square feet of space to develop a 

Seattle's Best Coffee Café located in the 55 East Monroe Building in Chicago, 

Illinois. 

31. After SBC insisted on certain changes to the lease, the lease was 

reviewed and approved by SBC.  One change SBC insisted on was that, if 

Devesh’s franchise was terminated, SBC would have the option to assume the 

lease.   

32. The lease, signed in the name of Devesh, Inc., was personally 

guaranteed by Amit Patel.    
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33. After expending approximately $450,000 in development costs, 

Devesh's SBC franchise opened in November 2010, and, since its opening, has 

continued to sustain substantial losses.  

34. Devesh's sales in 2011 were approximately $225,000, including 

sales tax.  

35. Furthermore, in or around August 2011, Starbucks executed a 

lease to open a Starbucks at the corner of Adams Street and Michigan Avenue—

just one-half block from Devesh's SBC Café.  

36. Upon learning about the new Starbucks, Devesh voiced its concern 

about this opening to SBC, as Devesh was led to believe they would not face 

competition from SBC’s affiliate, Starbucks.  SBC, however, did not materially 

respond, other than to state that SBC does not have knowledge or control over 

where and how Starbucks conducts its development.  

37. After opening and operating the location for a period of time, 

Devesh became aware that SBC did not sell Devesh a viable, profit-producing 

franchise. 

38. On or around August 2, 2012, SBC terminated Devesh’s License 

Agreement.   

39. SBC’s alleged reason for the termination was that Devesh had 

defaulted under the License Agreement.  In reality, Devesh was terminated for 

contesting certain practices of SBC, discussed herein, that were contrary to 

SBC’s contractual and statutory obligations.   
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40. Moreover, after recently consulting an attorney, Devesh became 

aware that: (1) SBC failed to provide Devesh with the proper disclosures 

because the FDD provided to Devesh prior to the sale was materially different 

than the FDD registered with the State of Illinois; and (2) the FDD contained a 

multitude of misleading disclosures (these misleading disclosures are contained 

in both the FDD presented to Devesh and the FDD filed with the State of Illinois).  

Had Devesh known the truth, Devesh would never have invested in the SBC 

franchise opportunity.  

41. More specifically, the 2008 FDD relied on by Devesh contained the 

following material misrepresentations and defects related to its registration. 

Registration and Disclosure of the SBC FDD 

42. As required under federal and Illinois state law, a prospective 

franchisee must receive a copy of the FDD prior to signing the franchise 

agreement, and, in Illinois, the FDD must be registered with the State.   

43. After Devesh inquired about the SBC franchise opportunity, on or 

around December 4, 2008, SBC sent Devesh an FDD.  However, the FDD that 

Devesh was provided was not the same FDD that was registered with the State 

of Illinois.  Furthermore, the FDD that Devesh should have received was 

registered with the State of Illinois after it was disclosed to Devesh.  

44. The FDD provided to Devesh contained mathematical errors in Item 

7.  In addition, the License Agreement contained in the FDD that was provided to 

Devesh and the FDD registered with the State of Illinois were materially different 

than the License Agreement SBC required Devesh to execute.   
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45. The License Agreement that Devesh was required to execute 

contained a guaranty and subordination agreement, which was a condition 

required for SBC to grant Devesh the franchise.  However, those requirements 

were not found in the copy of the FDD presented to Devesh prior to signing.   

Item 3: Litigation 

46. Pursuant to the NASAA’s Item 3 Disclosure Guidelines, a franchisor 

is required to disclose whether the franchisor, or its “parent or affiliate who 

induces franchise sales by promising to back the franchisor financially or 

otherwise guarantees the franchisor’s performance” was held liable in a “civil 

action involving an alleged violation of franchise, antitrust, or securities law, or 

involving allegations of fraud, unfair and deceptive practices, or comparable 

allegation,” in the past ten years.  (Notably, these guidelines require the 

franchisor to disclose the settlement terms of cases that settle.) 

47. According to NASAA, “Held liable” means that, “as a result of 

claims or counterclaims, the person must pay money or other consideration, 

must reduce an indebtedness by the amount of an award, cannot enforce its 

rights, or must take action adverse to its interests.”  Thus, held liable is not 

limited to final judgments in court.     

48. The Illinois Rules, promulgated by the Administrator, also clarify 

that any material action involving violation of the aforementioned claims be 

disclosed in Item 3, which includes any action that reasonable, prospective 

franchisees would consider important.  Ill. Admin. Code tit. 14, pt. 200 app. A. 
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49. Because Starbucks is SBC’s parent and, accordingly, an “affiliate” 

(and because Starbucks “guarantees [SBC’s] performance absolutely and 

unconditionally” – see SBC’s FDD Item 21), SBC must disclose not only its own 

litigation history as required by the NASAA Disclosure Guidelines, but Starbucks’ 

litigation history as well.   

50. Nonetheless, SBC failed to disclose the class action Stafford v. 

Starbucks Corp. (Case No. 2:06-cv-01382-JCC), filed in the U.S. District Court in 

the Western District of Washington in 2006.  The plaintiff in Stafford v. Starbucks 

alleged that Starbucks engaged in predatory practices constituting antitrust 

violations to prevent others from opening locations that offered specialty coffee 

beverages.  

51. Stafford v. Starbucks Corp. settled out of court after Starbucks 

moved for summary judgment and lost.  The court denied the summary judgment 

motion, holding that the plaintiffs had standing to move forward with the antitrust 

case. 

52. Notably, the plaintiffs in Stafford v. Starbucks Corp. alleged that 

one of the ways in which Starbucks was exerting its power to shut out 

competition was to buy its competitors, specifically noting the acquisition of SBC, 

and thereafter closing many of those stores.   

53. Disclosing Stafford v. Starbucks Corp. in the FDD was not only 

required by the NASAA Guidelines but material to any franchisee considering 

investing in the SBC franchise opportunity.  The practice or alleged practice of 

the parent corporation engaging in such conduct would be alarming for 
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prospective franchisees and Devesh would not have moved forward with the 

SBC franchise opportunity had these disclosures been made.   

Item 6: Other Fees 

54. The NASAA Disclosure Guidelines requires that all fees the 

franchisee is obligated to pay to the franchisor or its affiliate be disclosed in Item 

6, including the amount of the fee.   

55. Illinois law further clarifies that requiring a franchisee to purchase 

goods for more than a bona fide wholesale price constitutes a fee.  See 815 Ill. 

Comp. Stat. 705/3(14). 

56. As such, SBC was required to disclose in its FDD that Devesh 

would be paying an above-market mark-up for goods and supplies, since Devesh 

was charged a mark-up typically in the range of 30-50% on the goods and 

supplies ordered.   

57. Nonetheless, SBC did not disclose this additional mark-up fee or 

the amount of the fee.   

Item 7: Estimated Initial Investment 

58. Under Item 7, the NASAA Disclosure Guidelines require the 

franchisor to estimate the franchisee’s initial investment, including the cost of 

inventory to begin operating the franchise.   

59. SBC disclosed that the estimated cost for opening supplies and 

inventory was between $10,000 and $15,000, which would be sufficient to cover 

one to two weeks of operations.  
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60. From this disclosure, Devesh was able to calculate revenue 

projections for the Café, based on the amount of inventory purchased over a one 

to two week time period, and also based other decisions such as hiring and 

scheduling of employees.    

61. Upon opening and operating the SBC Café, Devesh learned that 

this number was greatly overstated.  That amount of inventory would last much 

longer than one to two weeks, in turn, reflecting low franchise sales.  Thus, the 

disclosure was false, misleading, and without factual support.      

62. Upon information and belief, this disclosure was not based on the 

latest data available to accurately reflect present circumstances, since the same 

exact disclosure was made in SBC’s 2006 FDD, involving primarily Borders 

Cafés.   

Item 8: Restrictions on Sources of Products and Services 

63. NASAA’s Disclosure Guidelines require SBC to disclose to 

prospective franchisees certain information regarding the purchase of goods to 

establish or operate the franchised business.  In particular, it requires the 

franchisor to disclose the following: 

a. Whether the franchisor or its affiliates are approved suppliers or if 

they are the only approved supplier of that good or service; 

b. Whether the franchisor or affiliate will derive revenue or material 

consideration from required purchases, and the specific revenue 

derived from those sales; and 
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c. Whether a supplier makes payments to the franchisor for 

purchases by franchisees. 

(See NASAA’s Disclosure Guidelines, Item 8.)   

64. Item 8 of the FDD received by Devesh states that all supplies and 

products must be purchased through SBC.  The FDD does not specify the prices 

for the products supplied by SBC.  Upon information and belief, all SBC License 

Agreements signed after Starbucks’ acquisition of SBC in 2003 contain similar 

pricing provisions.   

65. With respect to the espresso machines franchisees were required 

to purchase, the FDD states that there would likely be just one designated 

supplier because of the “high cost of testing other suppliers and of training and 

monitoring Licensees who use other espresso machine suppliers.”   

66. Section 2.4 of the License Agreement further provides: 

Licensee shall purchase for each SBC Café it opens an 
initial supply of smallwares and promotional materials for 
SBC and, from time to time, shall purchase additional 
smallwares and promotional materials from SBC or a vendor 
approved by SBC to maintain that supply.  Promotional 
materials are materials such as customer brochures and 
counter cards that contain the Trademarks.  SBC will 
supply these materials to Licensee at the prices set by 
SBC which shall be within the range of prices prevailing 
in the industry and shall be set forth in the Manual or 
supplemental price sheet delivered to Licensee.  

 
(Emphasis added.) 

 
67. Section 5.9.4 of the License Agreement states: 

SBC may act as a manufacturer or wholesaler of goods, 
products, and/or supplies purchased by Licensee and shall 
be entitled to a reasonable return comparable to other 
wholesalers or other manufacturers for similar items in the 
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marketplace.  In addition to the foregoing, Licensee agrees 
to pay the price set by SBC, which shall be within the 
range of prices prevailing in the industry, for all goods, 
products, and supplies ordered and purchased directly 
from SBC, except for coffees purchase as set forth in 
Schedule 2.8.   

 
(Emphasis added.)   
 

68. After operating the SBC franchised Café for some time, Devesh 

learned that the products sold by SBC and/or Starbucks were not sold at a bona 

fide wholesale price.  Rather, these products sold to Devesh were typically 30-

50% above the bona fide wholesale price and, thus, drastically higher than the 

price prevailing in the industry.  

69. Starbucks is a comparable wholesaler that supplies products to its 

own Licensees; nonetheless, upon information and belief, Starbucks sells 

products identical to the products sold to SBC at prices that are up to 80% lower 

than the price of products sold to Devesh.    

70. For example, SBC charged its Licensees approximately 87% more 

for a case of Equal Sugar than the price that Starbucks charges to its Licensees.  

Similarly, SBC Licensees were charged approximately 105% more that 

Starbucks Licensees for the same Tazo Loose Leaf China Green Tips tea.   

71. On May 29, 2012, Devesh contacted SBC to inquire about the 

prices he was being charged, and, in particular, why the prices were significantly 

higher than industry standards.  SBC subsequently informed Devesh that SBC 

would lower the prices charged to that commensurate with industry prices, but 

only if Devesh signed a general release. 
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72. This general release would release SBC and its parent, subsidiary 

and affiliate companies from all claims and liability relating to Devesh’s License 

Agreement.   

73. Not only was this pricing contrary to the disclosures that SBC made 

to Devesh prior to signing the License Agreement, but these markups made it 

virtually impossible for Devesh to be profitable because it forced Devesh to set 

menu prices higher than its peer competitors, such as outlets operated by coffee 

vendors like Starbucks, McDonalds, Dunkin’ Donuts, and Au Bon Pain.   

74. Furthermore, upon information and belief, it was Starbucks, and not 

SBC, that was supplying the products and receiving the markups.  Nonetheless, 

Item 8 wholly failed to disclose that SBC’s affiliate, Starbucks, was an approved 

supplier; that Starbucks would derive revenue from the purchases; and that 

Starbucks outlets would purchase products at dramatically lower prices than SBC 

franchisees.    

75. With regard to the purchase of espresso machines, Devesh was 

informed that the only approved supplier for the equipment was C&T Design.  

Devesh purchased two Verismo 801 espresso machines from C&T Design, each 

for $15,200, excluding freight or taxes.   

76. Devesh later learned that SBC and Starbucks were approved 

suppliers for the Verismo 801 and, in fact, owned the exclusive rights to sell and 

distribute the equipment.  SBC and Starbucks also sold the equipment for 

several thousand dollars less than C&T Design. 

Case: 1:12-cv-06190 Document #: 38 Filed: 12/19/12 Page 31 of 50 PageID #:1549



77. SBC intentionally omitted this information so that Devesh would be 

forced to purchase the espresso machines from SBC’s preferred supplier, who 

would significantly mark up the equipment by more than 20%.  Upon information 

and belief, SBC or Starbucks derived greater revenue from selling equipment to 

C&T Design than to franchisees directly.  This was not disclosed in Item 8 of the 

FDD.  

Item 12: Territory 

78. The NASAA Disclosure Guidelines provide that if the franchisor or 

its affiliate operates or plans to operate a similar business using different 

trademarks, then the FDD must provide whether the franchisor or its affiliates will 

solicit or accept orders within the franchisee’s territory.   

79. The FDD received by Devesh merely stated that SBC franchisees 

“freely compete with Starbucks,” and that Starbucks “solicit[s] and accept[s] 

orders anywhere.”   

80. Such a disclosure is misleading and deceptive because the fact 

that the franchisee [Devesh] is not restricted from competing with Starbucks is 

not equivalent to informing the franchisee that Starbucks may open a competing 

location in the franchisee’s territory.  Nowhere in the FDD did SBC clearly state 

that Starbucks may establish a competing outlet in Devesh’s Territory.    

81. As provided above, Starbucks ultimately opened a location about 

one-half block from Devesh’s SBC Café, severely hindering Devesh’s ability to 

make the franchise profitable.   
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Item 19: Financial Performance Representations 

82. Pursuant to the NASAA Disclosure Guidelines, if a franchisor 

wishes to make any type of financial performance representation, it must disclose 

such a representation in Item 19.   

83. The NASAA’s Disclosure Guidelines define financial performance 

representation broadly as: 

any representation, including any oral, written, or visual 
representation, to a prospective franchisee, including a 
representation in the general media, that states, expressly or by 
implication, a specific level or range of actual or potential sales, 
income, gross profits, or net profits.  The term includes a chart, 
table, or mathematical calculation that shows possible results 
based on a combination of variables.   
 
84. Under Item 19 of the NASAA’s Disclosure Guidelines, a franchisor 

is under no obligation to make any financial performance representations.  If, 

however, the franchisor does make a financial performance representation, it 

must do so only in compliance with Item 19’s requirements. 

85. In order to be lawful, NASAA’s 2008 Franchise Guidelines provide 

that a financial performance representation must: 

 Have a reasonable basis; 

 Be included in Item 19 of the FDD; 

 State the material bases and assumptions on which the 
projection is based (the assumptions underlying a forecast 
include the significant factors upon which a franchisee’s future 
results are expected to depend.  These factors include: 
economic or market conditions and other matters affecting a 
franchisee’s sales, the cost of goods or services sold, and 
operating expenses); 
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 Include a clear and conspicuous admonition that a franchisee’s 
individual financial results may differ from the results stated in 
the financial performance representation; and 

 

 Include a statement that written substantiation for the financial 
performance representation will be made available to the 
prospective franchisee upon reasonable request.   

 
See id. 
 

86. Notably, SBC’s Item 19 states that SBC does not make any 

financial performance representations and does not authorize its employees or 

representatives to make such representations.   

87. Nonetheless, SBC did make financial performance representations 

to Devesh.  As discussed previously, in SBC’s Item 7 disclosure, SBC stated that 

$10,000 to $15,000 of supplies and inventory would be adequate for one to two 

weeks of operation.  SBC was not required to disclose how long that amount of 

inventory would last, but doing so allowed franchisees to easily project potential 

sales and revenue.   

88. Devesh was also told at a meeting with Christina Phillips and Joe 

Reilly, prior to opening its SBC Café, that the Café would “easily” achieve sales 

of $2,500 per day, inducing Devesh to move forward in opening the Café.  This 

occurred despite the fact that SBC disclosed that no representative was 

authorized to make financial performance representations.  Such disclosure had 

no basis in fact.   

89. Lastly, at the time SBC solicited Devesh for a SBC franchise 

opportunity, SBC knew that its franchising program was largely a failure and, as 

a whole, unprofitable.  Nonetheless, SBC franchises were sold, upon information 
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and belief, to minimize the losses Starbucks sustained from closing hundreds of 

locations.  SBC made a material misrepresentation by not disclosing the lack of 

profitability of SBC franchise locations, since that fact would be material in any 

prospective franchisee’s decision to move forward with the investment.   

Item 20: Outlets and Franchisee Information 

90. Under Item 20 of the NASAA Disclosure Guidelines, the franchisor 

is required to disclose the total number of franchised and company-owned outlets 

for the previous three years.  The term “outlet” only “includes outlets of a type 

substantially similar to that offered to the prospective franchisee.”   

91. SBC’s Item 20 disclosed that, at the end of 2008, there were a total 

of 553 “licensed” outlets and eleven “company-owned” outlets. 

92. However, SBC failed to disclose that more than 480 of the 

“licensed” outlets were not the type that it offered to prospective franchisees, but 

were instead outlets established inside Borders locations.  Borders outlets are 

non-traditional outlets located within such (former) bookstores, unlike franchise 

outlets with traditional storefronts. 

93. SBC’s disclosure was deceptive because it provided false 

information in its FDD in connection with the sale of its franchise.  SBC knew that 

Borders outlets were considerably different than traditional franchises (it 

recognized the difference in its 2006 FDD).  Yet, despite this knowledge, SBC 

marketed its franchise offering by highlighting that it had over 500 outlets.  In 

making the decision to purchase a SBC franchise, the size of the franchise 

system is an extremely important consideration.   

Case: 1:12-cv-06190 Document #: 38 Filed: 12/19/12 Page 35 of 50 PageID #:1553



94. Had SBC disclosed that it had significantly less that 100 traditional 

franchise locations, Devesh would not have moved forward with the SBC 

opportunity.   

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF THE ILLINOIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE ACT 

 
Devesh realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs 

as if fully set forth herein. 

95. The Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act (“IFDA”), 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 

705/1, et seq., was enacted to protect franchisees and ensure that franchisors 

provide full and fair disclosures to a franchisee so that a prospective franchisee 

can make an intelligent decision regarding the opportunity being offered.  815 Ill. 

Comp. Stat. 705/2.   

96. The IFDA governs the relationship between SBC and Devesh 

because SBC is a “franchisor”; Devesh is a “franchisee”; and the parties’ 

relationship constitutes a “franchise,” as defined by the IFDA.  Devesh had a 

written agreement that stated:  

a. Devesh was granted the right to engage in the business of 
offering, selling, or distributing goods or services under a 
marketing plan or system prescribed or suggested in 
substantial part by SBC (see License Agreement Section 
1.1); 
 

b. The plan was substantially associated with SBC’s trademark 
and trade name (see License Agreement Section 5.10.1); 
and  

 
c. Devesh was required to pay a franchise fee in excess of 

$500 (see License Agreement Section 2.1). 
 
815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 705/3(1).   
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97. The IFDA requires that the franchisor provide the prospective 

franchisee with a disclosure statement [FDD], which: (1) meets the disclosure 

requirements of the IFDA; (2) is registered; and (3) provides the prospective 

franchisee with a copy of all of the proposed agreements relating to the sale.  

815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 705/5(2).   

98. Furthermore, in connection with the offer or sale of a franchise in 

Illinois, 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 705/6 makes it unlawful for a franchisor to: 

a. Employ any devise, scheme, or artifice to defraud;   
 
b. Make any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary in order to make the statements 
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are 
made, not misleading; or 

 
c. Engage in any act, practice, or course of business which 

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any 
person. 

 
See id. 

 
99. SBC’s franchise sale to Devesh was made in Illinois because 

Devesh accepted the offer to purchase the franchise in Illinois; Devesh is 

domiciled in Illinois; and the franchised business is located in Illinois.  See 815 Ill. 

Comp. Stat. 705/6.   

100. The IFDA requires that the disclosure statements be in accordance 

with the FTC Franchise Rule and the guidelines promulgated by NASAA (as 

discussed in detail above), and requires that the disclosure statements be free 

from all false or misleading statements of material fact.  815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 

705/16.  
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101. Furthermore, an Illinois franchisee may not be terminated without 

“good cause,” including giving the franchisee notice and an opportunity to cure.  

815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 705/19.   

102. A franchisee is granted a private right of action under the IFDA for 

any violation of the Act, and is entitled to recover the damages caused by the 

violation, costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, and, under appropriate 

circumstances, the franchisee may sue for rescission.  815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 

705/26. 

103. Furthermore, compliance with the requirements of the IFDA may 

not be waived.  815 Ill. Comp. Stat.705/41.   

104. SBC violated Section 705/5(2) of the IFDL because the disclosure 

statement failed to meet the requirements of the IFDA by, among other things:  

A. failing to disclose the antitrust litigation Stafford v. 
Starbucks Corp. (Case No. 2:06-cv-01382-JCC) and 
the terms of its settlement;  

 
B. misstating the estimated initial investment for the cost 

of initial supplies and inventory;  
 
C. failing to disclose that its affiliate Starbucks was an 

approved supplier, that products were not at a price 
prevailing in the industry but were marked up 
approximately 30-50%, and failing to disclose the fees 
that Starbucks derived from the sales;  

 
D. misrepresenting the number of approved suppliers for 

the Verismo 801 espresso machine, including the 
financial or other benefit SBC and/or Starbucks 
receives based on C&T Designs sales to franchisees;  

 
E. failing to adequately state that Starbucks could open a 

competing location in Devesh’s Territory;  
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F. making financial performance representations outside 
of Item 19 by providing franchisees with inventory 
sales figures that easily translate into projected profits; 
stating that Devesh’s Café would easily achieve sales 
of $2,500; and by failing to disclose the material fact 
that the SBC system was failing and not profitable; and  

 
G. misstating the number of franchise outlets of the type 

substantially similar to that offered to Devesh. 
 
105. Section 705/5(2) was also violated because: 

 
A. The FDD provided to Devesh prior to the sale was not 

registered with the State of Illinois at the time it was 
provided to Devesh and was materially different than 
the FDD that was eventually registered; and 

 
B. SBC failed to provide Devesh with a copy of the 

proposed agreement because Devesh was required 
to execute a License Agreement that was materially 
different in that it contained a guaranty and 
subordination agreement that was not included in the 
version of the License Agreement provided prior to 
the sale. 

 
106. The above-mentioned conduct was also in violation of 815 Ill. 

Comp. Stat. 705/6 because the false statements and failed disclosures were part 

of SBC’s artifice to defraud Devesh by presenting the SBC franchise opportunity 

in a positive light when SBC knew that SBC was not a growing or profitable 

system.  This conduct, indeed, operated as a fraud.  SBC also made numerous 

untrue statements of material fact in the FDD and omitted to state material facts, 

as described above, which were necessary in order to make the statements 

made not misleading.  

107. Devesh would not have invested in an SBC franchise had all 

material information regarding the franchise opportunity been properly disclosed 

to Devesh prior to signing the License Agreement.   
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108. SBC also violated 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 705/19 because SBC did not 

have good cause to terminate Devesh.  Devesh was terminated because it 

contested SBC and Starbucks’ practice of marking up the price of goods by 30-

50%, and Devesh refused to sign a release of claims.  Devesh’s assertion of its 

rights does not constitute good cause for termination.    

109. As a direct and proximate result of SBC’s violations of the IFDA, 

Devesh has suffered damages and is entitled to recover its damages from SBC 

in an amount to be determined at trial, together with costs, disbursements, and 

attorneys’ fees. 

110. Devesh is, moreover, entitled to rescission of its License 

Agreement and any and all related agreements. 

COUNT II 
VIOLATION OF THE ILLINOIS CONSUMER FRAUD AND DECEPTIVE 

BUSINESS PRACTICES ACT 
 

Devesh realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs 

as if fully set forth herein. 

111. The Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act 

(“Consumer Fraud Act”), codified at 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 505/1 et seq., makes it 

unlawful to “use or employ any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, 

misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material 

fact,” with the intent that the other rely upon it, in any trade or commerce.  815 Ill. 

Comp. Stat. 505/2.   

112. The sale of a franchise falls under the purview of the Consumer 

Fraud Act because a franchisee is deemed to be a “consumer” under the Act and 
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the terms “trade” and “commerce” include the sale of a franchise.  815 Ill. Comp. 

Stat. 505/1(e), (f).   

113. All of the above-mentioned conduct constitutes a violation of the 

Consumer Fraud Act.  SBC’s numerous misrepresentations and omissions of 

material facts in connection with the sale of a franchise to Devesh were made for 

the purposes of inducing Devesh to move forward with the SBC franchise 

opportunity by presenting the opportunity in a much more favorable light than 

reality.  Devesh, in fact, was misled by the misrepresentations and omissions of 

material fact and has been damaged thereby.   

114. Contrary to the representations in the FDD, the SBC franchise 

opportunity is not a sustainable, profit-making system for all of the reasons 

detailed above.   

115. Pursuant to 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 505/10a, Devesh is entitled to 

recover the full amount of damages suffered, an amount to be determined at a 

trial on the merits.   

COUNT III 
BREACH OF CONTRACT AND THE IMPLIED COVENANT  

OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING 
 

Devesh realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs 

as if fully set forth herein. 

116. In every contract, by operation of law, there is an implied covenant 

of good faith and fair dealing, which requires the parties to the agreement to act 

in good faith and in accordance with reasonable standards of fair dealing in the 

trade.  The implied covenant also prohibits either party from engaging in any 
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conduct or from doing anything that deprives the other party of the fruits of the 

agreement or benefit of the bargain.  The implied covenant requires that SBC act 

reasonably in the performance of its duties and, among other things, refrain from 

engaging in conduct that would cause Devesh to operate at a loss or to take 

action that would cause its business to fail.  

117. Pursuant to the express terms of the License Agreement, including 

Sections 2.4 and 5.9.4, SBC was required to sell its promotional materials, 

goods, products and other supplies to Devesh at a price within the range of 

prices prevailing in the industry.   

118. SBC breached the License Agreement and the implied covenant of 

good faith and fair dealing by selling the required products and supplies at rates 

30-50% above a bona fide wholesale price and drastically higher than the 

prevailing price in the industry (including Starbucks brand outlets). 

119. As a direct and proximate result of SBC’s breaches, Devesh was 

damaged because it was charged significantly higher rates for supplies than was 

promised.  This also prevented Devesh from being able to compete with its peer 

competitors since it forced Devesh to increase prices above and beyond what 

competitors were charging.   

120. Devesh is entitled to recover its damages in an amount to be 

determined at a trial on the merits. 

121. Devesh is, moreover, entitled to recover its costs and attorneys’ 

fees, pursuant to Section 12.8 of the License Agreement.   
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COUNT IV 
VIOLATION OF RICO: 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (a) & (c) 

(Against Starbucks) 
 

 Devesh realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

122. SBC, Starbucks, each of their affiliates and subsidiaries, each of 

the officers and directors of each such affiliate and subsidiary, and all of the SBC 

franchisees nationwide comprise the franchise system.  The franchise system is 

an association-in-fact enterprise.    

123. The enterprise is separate and distinct from Starbucks, which 

participates in it and conduct its affairs as the parent company of SBC.   

124. Starbucks has violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) because it has used 

and invested the proceeds of its racketeering activity in the “enterprise.”   

125. Starbucks has also violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) because it has 

conducted the affairs of an “enterprise” through a pattern of racketeering activity.  

126. The terms of the License Agreement imposes the structure of the 

enterprise, which terms Starbucks has used to require Devesh to either take 

certain action or refrain from certain action.   

127. Portions of the operations of the enterprise are conducted to 

effectuate a legal purpose – i.e., to grant Licensees the right to own and operate 

SBC coffee shops and sell food and beverages to the end consumer.  

128. By use of the License Agreements, Starbucks conducted the affairs 

of the enterprise (and not just their own affairs), by requiring Licensees and 
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Devesh to take certain actions and to control the Licensees in a hierarchical 

manner.   

129. Since approximately 2004, Starbucks has had control over the 

amount of revenue earned by SBC from its sale of products to SBC Licensees 

because Starbucks, through SBC, requires Licensees such as Devesh to 

purchase products and supplies from Starbucks at prices that are substantially 

higher than the prices Licensees agreed to.   

130. Absent the separate legal existence of Devesh and other SBC 

Licensees, Starbucks would not have been able to effectuate their scheme of 

operating the enterprise in a manner to defraud Devesh.  

131. Section 1961(1) of RICO defines “racketeering activity” to include 

any of the enumerated predicate acts listed in Section 1961(1).  Included in the 

list of predicate acts are “extortion,” “mail fraud,” and “wire fraud.” 

132. Under 18 U.S.C. § 1951(B)(2), extortion is defined as follows: 

The term “extortion” means the obtaining of property from another, 
with his consent, induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened 
force, violence, or fear, or under color of official right.  
 

133. Under 18 U.S.C. § 1341, mail fraud is defined as follows: 

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or 
artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of 
false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises … for 
the purpose of executing such a scheme of artifice or attempting to 
do so, places in any post office or authorized depository for mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by the 
Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any matter or 
thing whatever to be sent or delivered by any private or commercial 
interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or 
thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according to the 
direction thereon, or at the place at which it is directed to be 
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delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, and such matter 
or thing… 
 

134. Under 18 U.S.C. § 1343, wire fraud is defined as follows: 

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or 
artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of 
false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, 
transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, 
television, communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any 
writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of 
executing such a scheme or artifice… 
 

135. Starbucks regularly and continuously committed the following 

predicate acts in its ordinary course of business: 

a. Starbucks devised a scheme to fraudulently induce Devesh and 

other SBC Licensees to sign SBC License Agreements by making 

material misrepresentations and omissions of material facts; 

b. Starbucks devised a scheme to defraud Devesh and other SBC 

Licensees by concealing Starbucks’ role in SBC and requiring 

Devesh and other Licensees to purchase product and prices 

substantially higher than the prices prevailing in the marketplace; 

and   

c. Starbucks fraudulently sold Devesh supplies and products at prices 

significantly higher than promised and forcing Devesh and other 

Licensees to sign a release of all claims against SBC and 

Starbucks by using the fear of economic injury. 

136. The implementation and execution of the scheme involved 

numerous acts utilizing U.S. mail, interstate wires (electronic fund transfers), and 

means of extortion.   
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137. Starbucks uses the United States postal service and interstate 

wires to execute its scheme, and knew that because Licensees, including 

Devesh, were located nationwide, it would have to use the United States postal 

service and interstate wires to execute its scheme.   

138. These acts took place within the domain of interstate commerce 

and across multiple state lines.   

139. For example, Devesh was induced to become a SBC licensee 

through the use of interstate wires and communicated with SBC via mail and 

email to receive most information about the SBC system, including obtaining the 

FDD, which contained numerous material misrepresentations and was an 

integral part of the scheme to defraud Devesh.  Interstate wires and the U. S. 

Postal Service were used for the mailing of invoices and were also used for 

Devesh to submit weekly orders with SBC for products and supplies.  The use of 

mail and wire fraud by the enterprise is likely to continue because Starbucks’ 

profitability and revenue streams are tied to its ability to induce Licensees to 

perpetuate the fraud.   

140. Starbucks also used means of extortion by demanding Devesh sign 

a general release under the threat that failing to do so would result in the 

continued charging of above-market prices, resulting in economic injury.   

141. The fear of economic injury was used to demand the general 

release.   

142. Starbucks subsequently reinvested the racketeering income that 

was derived from defrauding SBC Licensees and Devesh into operating, 
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maintaining, and sustaining SBC, permitting Starbucks to continue its 

racketeering activity; concealing its racketeering activity by continuing to defraud 

SBC Licensees and Devesh by continuing to sell products at higher prices than 

industry standard; and making material misrepresentations to attract new 

Licensees.  

143. All of the predicate acts described above are pervasive and 

continuous in the enterprise system, from approximately 2008 to the present as it 

relates to other SBC franchisees and were continuous and pervasive as to 

Devesh from 2010 to the present.   

144. Devesh has been damaged by Starbucks’ operation of the SBC 

franchise system through a pattern of racketeering, with predicate acts that 

consist of mail fraud, wire fraud, and extortion, in an amount to be proven at trial, 

which amount shall also be trebled pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1964(c).  Devesh is 

also entitled to its attorneys’ fees and costs.   

COUNT V 
COMMON LAW FRAUD 

 
 Devesh realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

145. SBC made false and material misrepresentations and admissions 

of fact to Devesh as set forth more fully above.  SBC made such statements and 

material omissions knowing that they were false and intending that Devesh would 

rely upon them in deciding to enter into its License Agreement with SBC and 

invest a substantial amount of money. 
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146. Devesh reasonably relied upon the false representations and 

material omissions of SBC in making its decision to enter into the License 

Agreement. 

147. As a result of Devesh’s reliance upon the false representations of 

SBC, Devesh has been damaged.  

148. Devesh is entitled to rescind its License Agreement and recover 

from SBC the damages cause by SBC’s false representations and material 

omissions, in an amount to be proven at trial.   

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Devesh respectfully requests the following relief:  

1. Deny any and all relief of any kind to SBC; 

2. Award Devesh any and all actual damages, punitive damages, 

costs, disbursements, interest and attorneys’ fees as allowed by applicable law, 

including treble damages pursuant to 18 U.S.C.  1964(c), in an amount to be 

determined at trial;  

3. Grant Devesh rescission of its License Agreement and all other 

related agreements; and 

4. Such other and further relief as the Court may, otherwise, deem 

just and equitable.   
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DATED:  December 19, 2012  DADY & GARDNER, P.A. 

  
By   s/John D. Holland    

John D. Holland (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
J. Michael Dady (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
Whitney R. Cohen (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
5100 IDS Center 
80 South Eighth Street 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
PH: (612) 359-9000 
FX: (612) 359-3507 
jmdady@dadygardner.com 
jholland@dadygardner.com 
wcohen@dadygardner.com  
 
and 
 
Joanie Rae Wimmer (Attorney #3125600) 
LAW OFFICES OF JOANIE RAE 
WIMMER 928 Warren Avenue 
Downers Grove, IL 60515 
PH: 630-810-0005 
info@joanieraewimmer.com 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS AND 
COUNTERCLAIMANTS/THIRD-PARTY 
PLAINTIFFS 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I hereby certify that on December 19, 2012, I provided service to the 

person or persons listed above by the following means:  ECF. 

 

DATED:  December 19, 2012. DADY & GARDNER, P.A. 

  
By   s/John D. Holland    

John D. Holland (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
J. Michael Dady (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
Whitney R. Cohen (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
5100 IDS Center 
80 South Eighth Street 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
PH: (612) 359-9000 
FX: (612) 359-3507 
jmdady@dadygardner.com 
jholland@dadygardner.com 
wcohen@dadygardner.com  
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